A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS 

Deann Tinnon asks the Supreme Court to accept review of the 

Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this 

petition. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Ms. Tinnon seeks review of the Division Two of the Court of 

Appeals Order Denying Plaintiffs Motion to Modify the Commissioner's 

Ruling filed on March 12, 2015, pursuant to RAP 13.3(2)(e)1• See 

Appendix (App.) A. The commissioner's ruling was filed on December 

17, 2014, granting Defendant's Motion on the Merits to Affirm the trial 

court's decision to instruct the jury on contributory negligence, deny 

Plaintiffs motion for a directed verdict on contributory negligence and 

deny Plaintiffs proposed jury instruction 15. See App. B. Plaintiff filed 

the Motion to Modify the commissioner's ruling on January 12, 2015, and 

it was denied by the court of appeals on March 12, 2015. See App. A. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

This case presents a factual situation that logically reqmres a 

distinction from the medical malpractice based rule that an error in 

presenting contributory negligence is harmless if the jury returns a verdict 

1 A ruling by a commissioner or clerk of the Court of Appeals is not subject to review by 
the Supreme Court. The decision of the court of appeals on a motion to modify a ruling 
by the commissioner or clerk may be subject to review as provided in this title. 
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of no negligence on the defendant. In this case, Defendant was 

erroneously allowed to present a contributory negligence defense to the 

jury without substantial evidence to support such a theory. The Court of 

Appeals found this to be harmless error because the jury returned a verdict 

of no negligence on the defendant and it was assumed they did not reach 

the issue of plaintiffs contributory negligence. 

This case is different than a typical contributory negligence error 

case because there is a complete absence of possible proximate cause 

other than the negligence of the defendant or the plaintiff. This is a case 

where, quite literally, the collision would not have occurred unless one of 

the two parties was negligent. There was no evidence presented by either 

side of any other possible source of proximate cause. Here, but for the 

negligence of a party, the collision could not have occurred under these 

facts. Therefore, a jury verdict of no negligence on defendant means that 

the jury must have considered the issue of plaintiffs negligence. 

Allowing the defendant to argue contributory negligence and instruct the 

jury on that theory without substantial evidence to support the theory 

should be reversible error. 

The issues presented are: 

(1) Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that any error in instructing the 
jury on contributory negligence was harmless when the jury returned a 
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verdict of no negligence on the defendant when either the defendant or 
the plaintiff must have been negligent? 

(2) Did the Court of Appeals err in denying Plaintiffs proposed jury 
instruction 15 by dismissing it as a contributory negligence issue when 
the instruction is a separate issue on the duties of the parties? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This case arises out of a motor vehicle collision that occurred on 

the 14th day of May, 2008. CP 1-2. Deann Tinnon, Plaintiff, was driving 

southbound on A.P. Tubbs Road East, approaching 157th Street East in 

Buckley, Pierce County, Washington. CP 1-2. David Vawter, who was 

employed by White River School District (hereinafter White River), 

Defendant, was driving a school bus eastbound on 157th Street East and 

executed a left turn onto A.P. Tubbs Road East in front of Ms. Tinnon as 

she approached the intersection. CP 1-2. There was conflicting testimony 

as to whether or not Mr. Vawter could have, or should have, seen Ms. 

Tinnon prior to entering the intersection of 157th Street and A.P. Tubbs 

Road. Ms. Tinnon collided with the school bus sustaining damage to her 

vehicle and her person. See generally, RP III, IV. 

Ms. Tinnon passed through sharp "S" curves that inherently limit 

speed prior to entering the final stretch of roadway prior to impact with the 

bus. RP III, p. 18, 11. 18-23; p. 16, 11. 16-20; and p. 18, 11. 18-23. Ms. 

Tinnon also testified to witnessing the school bus stop and then proceed 
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through the intersection well after she had rounded the corner, but she 

could not place the exact spot where she was when she realized the bus 

was not going to stop. RP III, p. 18, ll. 10-17. 

Q: But when the bus pulled out, do you know for sure that 
you were up around the corner? A: Yes. Q: And do you 
know for certain that you actually were able to see the bus 
pull up to the intersection and stop? A: Yes. Q: And you 
were able to observe the bus stop and then pull out in front 
of you, correct? A: Yes. Q: Is it then just where on that 
particular road you were, whether you were halfway or 
whatever, is that just where you were on the road when the 
bus pulled out and you can't be sure? A: No, I can't be 
positive. I know I was past the corner. 

RP III, p. 20, ll. 19 top. 21, 1. 7. 

Q: So you slammed on the clutch and the brake? A: Yes. 
Q: Do you have a specific memory of that? A: Yes. 

RP III, p. 21, 1. 25 top. 22, ll. 1-3. 

A: I believe the first thing I did was slam on my brake and 
the clutch. I reacted as fast as I could. Q: When you 
slammed on the brakes, did your car slow down at all 
before the car ran into the bus? A: I believe so, but there 
wasn't a whole lot oftime. 

RP Ill, p. 60, ll. 10-14. 

Trial was held from January 16th to January 29th, 2014. See 

generally, RP. Defendant presented a contributory negligence defense 

during the trial and requested that the court instruct the jury on that theory. 

CP 60, 65. After the defense rested their case, Ms. Tinnon moved for a 

directed verdict on the issue of contributory fault and the trial court denied 
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the motion. RP VI, p. 4, 1. 23 top. 12, 1. 20. The trial court also refused to 

give Plaintiff's proposed jury instruction 15 on the duties of favored and 

disfavored drivers. CP 31, RP VI, p. 13. The trial court then instructed the 

jury on the contributory negligence theory. CP 60, 65. The jury returned a 

verdict for White River on January 30, 2014. CP 84. Judgment on the 

verdict was entered on February 14, 2014. CP 88-89. 

Ms. Tinnon timely filed a notice of appeal on February 25, 2014. 

CP 86. White River filed a Motion on the Merits to Affirm on September 

4, 2014. Oral argument was heard on November 5th, 2014, and the 

commissioner's ruling was filed on December 17, 2014, granting the 

Motion to Affirm. See App. B. Plaintiff filed a motion to modify the 

commissioner's ruling on January 12, 2015, which the Court of Appeals 

denied on March 12,2015. See App. A. 

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

The petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that 

should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4). The 

contributory negligence defense is one of the most important and 

contested parts of any tort trial. As Washington's tort law has developed 

over the years, transitioning from a scheme where contributory negligence 

acted as a bar to plaintiffs recovery to a state that has adopted a pure 

comparative negligence scheme, unresolved issues remain that need to be 
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resolved by this Court. The fact pattern presented in this case is one such 

issue. It is of substantial public interest that this Court resolve this issue to 

prevent absurd results occurring in cases where one of the two parties 

must have been negligent. This Court is the only avenue through which a 

rule can be developed to stop this injustice from occurring. 

1. When negligence must reside with one of the parties, it is 
prejudicial error to erroneously instruct the jury on 
contributory negligence even when a finding of no 
negligence on the defendant is made. 

The root issue here is whether, in a situation where negligence 

must reside with either the defendant or plaintiff, it is prejudicial error to 

erroneously instruct a jury on contributory negligence when the jury 

returns a verdict of no negligence on the defendant. In a situation where 

negligence must reside with one of two parties, a finding of no negligence 

on one party means that the jury must have considered the negligence of 

the other party. This is the same analysis that this Court reached in a 

case--discussing an intersection collision between a favored driver and 

disfavored driver-that is on point. Nelson v. Blake, 72 Wn.2d 652, 653, 

434 P.2d 595 (1967). ("On this conflicting testimony, the trial court 

submitted the issue of the favored driver's contributory negligence to the 

jury; and the jury, by its verdict for the defendant, of necessity must 

have found the favored driver contributorily negligent."). 
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However, case law since the Nelson decision has developed in 

such a way as to tie the hands of the lower courts when ruling on this 

issue. This limitation has created the absurd result we have in this case, 

that an error concerning contributory negligence is considered harmless 

error, even though the jury must have considered the plaintiffs negligence 

in determining defendant's negligence. The Commissioner's Ruling 

dismissed Nelson in a footnote because it was decided in 1967, when 

contributory negligence was a complete bar to recovery. App. B at 9. 

However, the logical conclusion reached in Nelson remains unaltered by 

the change in the negligence scheme. 

Contributory negligence was a complete bar to recovery in 

Washington until April 1, 1974, when Washington adopted a comparative 

fault scheme. See Gregoire v. City of Oak Harbor, 170 Wn.2d 628, 633 

n.l., 244 P.3d 924 (2010). In 1981, the comparative fault scheme was 

codified in RCW 4.22.005. Contributory negligence went from a complete 

bar to plaintiffs recovery to a mitigating factor that reduced any damages 

in proportion to the percentage of negligence attributable to the party 

recovering. RCW 4.22.005. The transition from a scheme where 

contributory negligence is a complete bar to recovery to a comparative 

negligence scheme only affects the determination of plaintiff's 

recovery. This change in the negligence scheme does not change the 
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logical conclusion reached in Nelson that when negligence must reside 

with one of the parties and the jury finds one of the parties free of 

negligence, they must have considered the negligence of the other party in 

their determination of fault. See Nelson, 72 Wn.2d at 653. 

An error is reversible if it is prejudicial and prejudice is shown if 

the error presumably affected the outcome of the trial. See Brown v. 

Spokane County Fire Prot. Dist. No.1, 100 Wn.2d 188, 196,688 P.2d 571 

(1983). In finding the error in this case to be harmless, the commissioner 

based her ruling on the oft-used legal construct described in Bertsch v. 

Brewer, 97 Wn.2d 83, 640 P.2d 711 (1982), that errors concerning 

contributory negligence are harmless when: 

The instruction and special verdict form used clearly 
informed the jury that the issue of contributory negligence 
was not to be considered until an initial conclusion as to 
[defendant's] negligence had been made. Because the jury 
found no negligence on [defendant's] part, they presumably 
never reached the issue of [plaintiffs] contributory 
negligence. 

Bertsch, 97 Wn.2d at 92. Bertsch and its companion case Ford v. Chaplin, 

61 Wn. App. 896, 812 P.2d 532, review denied, 117 Wn.2d 1026 (1991), 

also cited by the lower court, are medical malpractice cases. A simple 

walk through of these cases reveals why this legal construct works in fact 

patterns that support no negligence on the part of any party involved such 
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as medical malpractice cases where a "bad result" can occur even when no 

negligence is present. 

In Bertsch, the Court looked at a medical malpractice claim on the 

issue of informed consent, so if the defendant was found not negligent, 

there was consent and there is no necessary contributory negligence on the 

part ofthe plaintiff. Bertsch v. Brewer, 97 Wn.2d 83, 640 P.2d 711 (1982). 

In Ford, the Court looked at a medical malpractice question on the issue of 

the potential failure to perform a follow up x-ray after surgery, so the 

finding of no negligence was in relation to the necessity of the x-ray and 

did not necessitate a finding of contributory negligence on the part of the 

plaintiff. Fordv. Chaplin, 61 Wn. App. 896,812 P.2d 532 (1991). 

Perhaps alluding to the possibility that the holdings in these 

medical malpractice cases should be applied only to similar factual 

situations this Court applied Bertsch in Hizey v. Carpenter with the 

preface that it was specifically a medical malpractice case. 2 Hizey v. 

Carpenter, 119 Wn.2d 251, 270, 830 P.2d 646 (1992) (emphasis added). 

The Court could have simply stated that the rule governs all contributory 

negligence situations but instead specifically chose to point out that the 

holding comes from medical malpractice roots. 

2 "in a medical malpractice case, we declined to consider the sufficiency of evidence of 
contributory negligence because the jury had found the physician was not negligent and, 
therefore, presumably never reached the issue of[the plaintiffs] contributory 
negligence." 

9 



These cases, as is common in the medical malpractice realm, 

involve situations where "bad outcomes" are possible with no negligence 

by any party and, therefore, a finding of no negligence on defendant does 

not necessitate a finding of negligence on the plaintiff. However, these 

cases do not stand for the proposition that an error in instructing on 

contributory negligence is harmless when negligence must reside with 

either the defendant or the plaintiff and no other proximate cause. 

Therefore, these medical malpractice cases should not control the current 

case and do not prevent this Court from creating an exception to provide a 

logical outcome in fact patterns such as the case at hand. 

The Court of Appeals commissioner also relied on Veit v. 

Burlington Northern Santa Fe Corp., 150 Wn. App. 369, 372, 207 P.3d 

1282 (2009), aff'd by, 171 Wn.2d 88, 249 P.3d 607 (2011). In Veit, the 

plaintiff appealed a jury verdict for the defendant in a collision between a 

freight train and a motor vehicle at a railroad crossing. Veit v. Burlington 

Northern Santa Fe Corp., 150 Wn. App. 369. On appeal to this Court, the 

plaintiff argued that the Court of Appeals erred in holding that any error 

concerning contributory negligence was harmless error. Veit, 171 Wn.2d 

at 116. In addressing the plaintiff's arguments regarding comparative 

negligence, this Court stated: 
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Washington is a pure comparative negligence jurisdiction, 
in which a defendant can be held liable in negligence even 
where the plaintiff bears the majority of the fault. RCW 
4.22.005. Thus, {plaintiff) cannot attribute the jury's 
negative finding as to [defendant's] negligence to its 
finding that [plaintiff) was a poor driver who was not in 
compliance with applicable traffic safety laws. 

Veit, 171 Wn.2d at 117. 

The second sentence of the above paragraph does not logically 

follow the first unless the jury is also considering other proximate causes 

of negligence or the possibility that the event could occur through no 

negligent act by any party. If negligence must be apportioned between 

only two parties, and some negligence must have occurred, it is beyond 

the realm of reasonableness to conclude that the jury's decision making 

process did not include a consideration of both parties negligence. 

The lower court also relied on the analysis of the special verdict 

form in Veit to reach its holding, however, Veit is distinguished from the 

case at hand because it too involves a possible proximate cause 

independent from either the defendant or plaintiff. Initially, Veit brought 

suit against BNSF, the City of Bellingham, and the marital community of 

Michael Burks, the BNSF engineer who was operating the train. !d. at 94. 

Before trial, the City of Bellingham settled with plaintiff, and the Court 

dismissed Veit's claims against Mr. Burks, leaving BNSF as the sole 

defendant remaining in the suit. !d. at 95. 
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During trial, expert testimony was presented that "the stop bar was 

located dangerously close to the railroad tracks, in violation of industry 

standards, which require the stop bar to be placed 15 feet away from the 

nearest tracks." Id. at 97. An employee for the City of Bellingham's public 

works department testified that "placing the stop bar 15 feet from the 

nearest tracks, per industry standards would have been problematic from a 

visibility standpoint." /d. This testimony established that the placement of 

the stop bar by the City's public works department may have been an 

intervening proximate cause of the collision separate from any negligence 

on the part of BNSF, or contributory negligence on the part of the 

plaintiff. This essentially created an "empty chair defense" that the jury 

could have used to determine that BNSF was not negligent, while also not 

reaching the issue of whether the plaintiff was contributorily negligent. 

In Veit, as with the case at hand, the special verdict form explicitly 

instructed the jury not to address contributory negligence unless it found 

that the defendant had been negligent. Veit, 171 Wn.2d at 117. "Because 

juries are presumed to follow the law," the court assumed that the jury did 

not consider the plaintiffs duty of care in determining whether the 

defendant was negligent. Veit, 171 Wn.2d at 117. Veit illustrates a 

situation where, due to the possibility of an intervening proximate cause, 

the special verdict form rule may be appropriate because the jury could 
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have determined the defendant was not negligent without reaching the 

issue of the plaintiffs negligence. Applying this rule to the current case, 

however, creates the absurd result of finding the jury did not consider the 

issue of plaintiffs negligence when determining how to apportion 

negligence between the defendant and plaintiff, when one of the two 

parties must have been negligent. 

Thus, the reasoning upon which the commissioner relies, that the 

special verdict form instructed the jury not address the issue of the 

plaintiffs contributory negligence unless they found the defendant had 

been negligent, while appropriate in the factual circumstances presented in 

Veit, does not satisfy the issue presented in the instant case. See App. Bat 

9. Also, the special verdict form itself does not support the defendant's 

suggestion that contributory negligence was not reached by the jury. The 

converse is true however, in that the special verdict form prevents the jury 

from noting the only possible finding they had to come to in order to find 

no negligence on behalf of the respondent in this case. That the jury found 

Plaintiff to be contributorily negligent. See CP 84. 

A finding of no negligence on the defendant is not a universal bar 

to finding prejudicial error regarding contributory negligence. In fact this 

Court has previously held that factual circumstances dictate the 

appropriateness of contributory negligence errors when no negligence was 
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found against the defendant. See Gregoire v City of Oak Harbor, 170 

Wn.2d 628, 244 P.3d 924 (2010) (Finding that the instruction on 

contributory negligence to the jury was reversible error in cases regarding 

prison suicides regardless of a verdict of no negligence against the 

defendant). This Court also found an exception to the legal construct 

created to support the special verdict form in Bordynoski v. Berger, a case 

involving a collision between a young bicyclist plaintiff and an automobile 

driven by the defendent. Bordynoski v. Berger, 97 Wn.2d 335, 644 P.2d 

1173 (1982). Based on the evidence presented, the trial court found the 

plaintiff to be contributorily negligent as a matter of law. Bordynoski, 97 

Wn.2d at 337. The jury returned a finding of no negligence on the 

defendant on the first question of the special verdict form which directed 

them to not answer any further questions. !d. at 342. On appeal to this 

Court, defendant argued that "because the jury was instructed to answer 

the questions in the order given, they necessarily did not consider the issue 

of plaintiffs fault when answering the first question regarding defendant's 

negligence." !d. This Court denied defendant's argument stating that: 

This argument ignores, however, the persuasive strength of 
the trial judge 's instructions to the jury. The jury was told 
as a matter of law that plaintiff was contributorily 
negligent and that this was a proximate cause of the 
accident. This instruction was given prior to the time the 
jury answered the question on the special verdict form. 
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Therefore, it is not logical to conclude that the directed 
verdict did not affect the jury's deliberation. 

!d. (emphasis added). 

This Court has made exceptions to the rule that an error in 

presenting contributory negligence is harmless if the jury returns a verdict

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