RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON May 07, 2015, 10:24 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

#### No. PR 11649

Court of Appeals, Division II No. 45934-5-II

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEANN I. TINNON,

Petitioner,

v.

WHITE RIVER SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Respondent

ANSWER OF RESPONDENT TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

H. Andrew Saller, Jr. Attorney for Respondent

VANDEBERG JOHNSON & GANDARA, LLP P. O. Box 1315 Tacoma, WA 98401-1315 Telephone: (253) 383-3791

WSBA # 12945



###

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

Tinnon cites only *Nelson v. Blake*, 72 Wn.2d 652, 434 P.2d 597 (1967) as authority for her argument that someone must have been negligent in this two-vehicle collision case. Tinnon's reliance on *Nelson* is misplaced because of two significant changes to the law of negligence after *Nelson* was decided.

In *Nelson*, the jury rendered a verdict for defendant, but it did not find that the defendant, who was the disfavored driver, was not negligent.

As noted by the Court, at 654:

The disfavored driver's negligence in failing to yield the right of way is clear, and we are not concerned on this appeal with any attempt on his part to recover damages.

When *Nelson* was decided in 1967, violation of a statute was negligence per se. See, *Portland-Seattle Auto Freight v. Jones*, 15 Wash.2d 603, 607, 131 P.2d 736 (1942) (violation of traffic rules is negligence per se). That changed in 1986 when the legislature enacted RCW 5.40.050 which provides, in pertinent part:

A breach of a duty imposed by statute, ordinance, or administrative rule should not be considered negligence per se, but may be considered by the trier-of-fact as evidence of negligence; ...

Here, the jury was properly instructed on the statutory duties of the drivers and that it could consider a breach of those duties as evidence of negligence.

In addition, Nelson was decided when Washington followed a strict contributory negligence scheme where any negligence by the

plaintiff resulted in a verdict for defendant. As explained in a footnote in *Gregoire v. City of Oak Harbor*, 170 Wn.2d 628, 633, 244 P.3d 924 (2010):

Before April 1, 1974 contributory negligence was a complete bar to plaintiff's recovery in Washington if the damage suffered was considered partly the plaintiff's fault. See Laws of 1973, 1st Ex. Sess., Ch. 138, §1, codified at RCW 4.22.010, repealed by Laws of 1981, Ch. 27, §17.

The contributory negligence doctrine explains the following statements by the *Nelson* Court:

On this conflicting testimony, the trial court submitted the issue of the favored driver's contributory negligence to the jury; and the jury, by its verdict for the defendant, of necessity, must have found the favored driver contributorily negligent.

Nelson, at 653.

The favored driver, having the right of way, would have recovered in this case but for the finding of the jury that he, too, was negligent and that his negligence was a contributing cause of the collision. We have frequently, as in *Robison v Simard*, 57 Wn.2d 850, 350 P.2d 153 (1961), held that a favored driver may not recover where he has failed to operate his car in a careful and prudent manner under prevailing conditions.

In 1981, the legislature abolished the rule that contributory negligence is a complete bar to plaintiff's recovery by enacting RCW 4.22.005:

In an action based on fault seeking to recover damages for injury or death to person or harm to property, any contributory fault chargeable to the claimant diminishes proportionately the amount awarded as compensatory damages for an injury attributable to the claimant's contributory fault, but does not bar recovery. This rule applies whether or not under prior law the claimant's contributory fault constituted a defense or was disregarded under applicable legal doctrines, such as last clear chance.

*Nelson* is not applicable here so Tinnon has no authority for her premise that the jury must have concluded she was negligent in order to find defendant was not negligent.

As noted by the Commissioner in her ruling granting respondent's motion on the merits to affirm, "Tinnon's argument that the jury must have reached the issue of contributory negligence because the jury found for White River fails, as this too is clearly controlled by settled law." *Veit v. Burlington Northern Santa Fe Corp.*, 150 Wn. App. 369, 372, 207 P.3d 1282 (2009), *aff'd by* 179 Wn.2d 88, 249 P.3d 607 (2011).

In *Veit*, plaintiff, like Tinnon here, argued that the jury must have considered plaintiff's own contributory negligence in order to be able to reach a defense verdict. This court rejected that argument stating:

Washington is a pure comparative negligence jurisdiction, in which a defendant can be held liable and negligent even where the plaintiff bears the majority of the fault. RCW 4.22.005. Thus, [plaintiff] cannot attribute the jury's negative finding as to [defendant's] negligence to its finding that [plaintiff] was a poor driver who is not in compliance with applicable traffic safety laws.

Veit, 171 Wn. 2d at 117.

The fact that the driver of the school bus was the disfavored driver is not a sufficient basis for concluding that the jury must have found

Tinnon at fault. In a similar case, *Morse v. Antonellis*, 149 Wn.2d 572, 70 P.3d 125 (2003), defendant stopped at an intersection, did not see plaintiff's car approaching so she turned left in front of plaintiff. A collision resulted. *Morse*, at 573. Even though defendant was the disfavored driver, the jury found defendant did not negligently cause the accident.

This Court reversed the court of appeals conclusion that defendant was negligent as a matter of law because she had a statutory duty to yield to oncoming traffic and a common law duty to see what a reasonable person would see. *Morse*, at 574. This court stated:

In order to determine whether [defendant] acted reasonably, the jury simply had to decide who to believe. The jury apparently decided to believe [defendant's] version of events, concluded she acted reasonably, and returned a verdict in her favor.

Morse, at 574.

As in *Morse*, the jury here concluded that even though the bus driver was the disfavored driver, he was not negligent. There is no reason why the jury would first have to determine that Tinnon was contributorily negligent in order to reach that verdict.

## 2. The Rule that Error on an Issue not Reached by the Jury is Harmless is Not Limited to Medical Malpractice Cases.

In *Bertsch* and *Ford*, the courts held that any error regarding contributory negligence must be harmless because the jury found the defendant in each case was not negligent so the jury never addressed the issue of contributory negligence. Tinnon suggests that when this court referenced *Bertsch* as a medical malpractice case in *Hizey v. Carpenter*, 119 Wn.2d 251, 270, 830 P.2d 646 (1992), it may have intended to limit the application of *Bertsch* to medical malpractice actions. In fact, *Hizey* which was not a medical malpractice case, makes it clear that there is no such limitation.

In *Hizey*, plaintiff claimed that the trial court erred in its instructions regarding damages and contributory negligence. *Hizey*, 269. The jury was given a special verdict form that instructed it not to answer any questions if it answered "No" to the first question of whether the defendant was negligent. The jury did answer that question "No" and, as instructed, did not answer the remaining questions. *Hizey*, 269. This court said, at 269-70:

The jury is presumed to follow the court's instructions. Bordynoski v. Bergner, 97 Wn.2d 335, 342, 644 p.2d 1173 (1992). Therefore, the jury never even reached the issue of damages. Error relating solely to the issue of damages is harmless when a proper verdict reflects nonliability. American Oil Co. v. Columbia Oil Co., 88 Wn.2d 835, 842, 567 P.2d 637 (1977).

This Court in *Hizey* then applied the same analysis to plaintiff's claim of error regarding instructing the jury on contributory negligence when the defense presented no evidence of contributory negligence:

As with damages, the jury did not address the issue of contributory negligence. The jury was instructed, on the special verdict form, not to answer the question of whether plaintiffs were contributorially negligent if they found [defendant] was not negligent. Again, we presume the jury obeys the court's instructions. Bordynoski, 97 Wn.2d at 342. In a medical malpractice case, we declined to consider the sufficiency of evidence of contributory negligence because the jury had found the physician was not negligent, and, therefore, "presumably never reached the issue of [the plaintiff's] contributory negligence." Bertsch v. Brewer, 97 Wn.2d 83, 92, 640 P.2d 711 (1982). Here, the jury did not reach the issue and therefore any error in giving the instruction was harmless.

Hizey, at 270. Rather than limiting the application of Bertsch, this court's opinion in Hizey makes it clear that in this case, error on an issue that a jury never reaches is harmless.

Tinnon cites *Bordynoski* as authority that an error in jury instructions regarding contributory negligence is not harmless even though the jury was instructed not to answer questions regarding contributory negligence if it found the defendant was not negligent. However, Tinnon failed to include the following from her quotation of *Bordynoski*:

Furthermore, the jury did, in fact, answer the questions on the special verdict form pertaining to plaintiff's negligence and its causal connection to the injuries, and their answers were consistent with the trial judge's rulings on these issues. These answers support our conclusion that the jury's verdict may have been prejudicially colored by the erroneous rulings and instructions given by the trial judge. Bordynoski, at 342-343. Bordynoski is not an exception to the rule that the jury is presumed to follow the court's instructions. Instead, it is a case where the jury simply did not follow those instructions. It has no application here.

Similarly, *Gregoire v. City of Oak Harbor*, 170 Wn.2d 628, 244 P.3d 924, (2010), relied upon by Tinnon, does not provide support for her position that any errors relating to contributory negligence were not harmless even if the jury found defendant was not negligent. In *Gregoire*, the City of Oak Harbor asserted affirmative defenses of assumption of risk and contributory negligence to claims made on behalf of the estate of a jail inmate who hanged himself while in custody. Contrary to Tinnon's assertion, the jury did not find that defendant was not negligent.

Here, the jury found that Oak Harbor negligently failed to fulfill its duty to protect Gregoire. However, the jury concluded that the city's negligence was not the proximate cause of Gregoire's death. It seems likely the jury reached this verdict because the trial court described contributory negligence in a way that bore directly on proximate cause, an issue with which the jury struggled.

#### Gregoire, at 643.

This court said, "It follows that the given instructions would lead the jurors to the inevitable conclusion that Gregoire's own conduct was the sole proximate cause of his death." *Gregoire*, at 643. In addition, this

Court held that the instructions did not properly inform the jury of the applicable law because the city had a specific duty to protect Gregoire from injuring himself, and both contributory negligence and assumption of risk defenses must yield to that affirmative, nondelegable duty. *Gregoire*, at 643-44. None of those circumstances applies here.

# 3. Tinnon's Proposed Jury Instruction Does Relate to Contributory Negligence.

Tinnon's third assignment of error is:

The trial court erred when it refused to submit plaintiff's Proposed Instruction 15 which would have fully informed the jury of the duties of the favored driver. (Emphasis added.)

Appellant's Opening Brief, 3. That proposed instruction includes the following:

The favored driver is, however, entitled to reasonable reaction time after it becomes apparent, in the exercise of due care, that the disfavored driver will not yield the right of way. It is not sufficient to attempt to prove comparative negligence on the part of the favored driver by means of split-second computations of time, speed and/or distance. (Emphasis added.) CP 31.

Tinnon now argues the proposed instruction is a separate issue on the duties of the parties and not a contributory negligence instruction. Pet. for Review, 15. It is not.

Tinnon cites *Bowers v. Marzano*, 170 Wn. App. 498, 290 P.3d 134 (2002) as authority that to show proximate cause, a party claiming

negligence must produce evidence from which the trier of fact can infer the favored driver's approximate point of notice. *Bowers*, at 506. The issue of point of notice relates to the conduct of the favored driver. In *Bowers*, plaintiff Colin Bowers was a passenger in a car driven by his brother, Walter Bowers. Walter failed to stop at a stop sign and was then struck by a truck driven by Marzano. *Bowers*, at 500. Bowers sued Marzano for damages resulting from Marzano's alleged negligence based on inattentiveness and speeding. The trial court granted summary judgment for Marzano, the favored driver, because Bowers failed to establish that the favored driver had sufficient time from the point of notice to take reasonable steps to avoid the collision.

The Court of Appeals pointed out that the driver with the right of way is the favored driver and the disfavored driver bears the primary duty to avoid a motor vehicle accident. *Bowers*, at 506. The court said:

A favored driver may assume the disfavored driver will yield the right of way; and, this assumption continues until the favored driver becomes aware, or in the exercise of reasonable care should have become aware, that the disfavored driver will not yield the right of way. The point where a favored driver realizes a disfavored driver will not yield the right of way is the point of notice. (Citations omitted.)

Bowers, at 506.

Here, Tinnon was the favored driver. Consequently, the issue of point of notice when the disfavored driver would not yield the right of way applies solely to Tinnon's contributory negligence.

#### 4. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion.

Even if the trial court's failure to give plaintiff's proposed jury instruction 15 is not considered harmless error because it related to the issue of contributory negligence never reached by the jury, Tinnon has failed to show abuse of discretion. In *Rekhter v. State, Dept. of Social & Health Services*, 180 Wn. 2d 102, 117, 323 P.3d 1036 (2014), this court said:

Jury instructions are sufficient when they allow counsel to argue their theory of the case, are not misleading, and when read as a whole properly inform the trier of fact of the applicable law. *Bodin v. City of Stanwood*, 130 Wn. 2d 726, 732, 927 P.2d 240 (1996).

Tinnon asserts that the jury did not have the benefit of a full understanding of the relevant duties of the favored driver and cites *Poston* v. *Mathers*, 77 Wn.2d 329, 333-34, 462 P.2d 222 (1969) as authority that the complete duties of the favored and disfavored drivers must be presented to the jury. The court's jury instructions here satisfy that requirement.

In Poston, this Court said, at 333:

It is error to instruct the jury that all rights-of-way are relative and that the duty to avoid accident at intersections rests upon both drivers, unless such instruction is qualified by the statement that the primary duty to avoid collision rests upon the disfavored driver. Huber v. Hemrich Brewing Co., 188 Wash. 235, 62 P.2d 451 (1936).

The Court's Instruction No. 15 here includes precisely that statement. That instruction first states that a statute provides that a driver about to enter onto a highway from a side road or residential district shall yield the right of way to all vehicles approaching on the highway. It then states:

This right of way, however, is not absolute but relative, and the duty to exercise ordinary care rests upon both parties. The primary duty, however, rests upon the driver of the entering or crossing vehicle, which duty must be performed with reasonable regard to the maintenance of a fair margin of safety at all times. (Emphasis added.)

This instruction is a correct statement of law and Tinnon took no exception to it. It was not misleading and allowed Tinnon to argue her theory of the case. Tinnon has not established that the trial court abused its discretion by not giving her proposed instruction.

#### F. CONCLUSION

The errors assigned by Petitioner relate solely to the issue of plaintiff's contributory negligence. The jury never reached that issue. Therefore, under clearly settled controlling authority, even if there was any error by the trial court, it must have been harmless. Petitioner's entire premise is that the jury was required to find one of the two parties in this case to have been negligent so it must have found plaintiff contributorily

negligent in order to render a verdict in favor of defendant. Petitioner's premise is inconsistent with current Washington law and is directly contrary to this court's decision in *Veit v. Burlington Northern Santa Fe Corp.* In addition, petitioner has not shown the trial court abused its discretion.

Tinnon fails to show that this case involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. The Petition for Review should be denied.